

BYLAWS OF THE ATHENS IN MOTION COMMISSION

ARTICLE ONE: Objectives and Purposes

1.1 Objectives of the Athens in Motion Commission ("AiMC") shall be adhered to strictly and shall be confirmed to the special pursuits and purposes herein and as outlined in the goals of the organization as presented to the Unified Government of Athens-Clarke County, Georgia ("Unified Government"), and to the University of Georgia.

1.2 The goals and purposes of the AiMC may be amended or altered only with expressed written consent of the Mayor and Commission of the Unified Government.

1.3 The AiMC shall be responsible for development, implementation, and modification of an Athens in Motion Plan for a safe and connected network of bicycle and pedestrian facilities throughout Athens-Clarke County, Georgia. Such plan shall also include guidelines for the implementation of the plan.

1.4 The AiMC is advisory in nature and is charged with the responsibility of recommending projects, policies, and initiatives to the Mayor and Commission.

1.5 Authority. The AiMC shall be authorized to:

- (1) Seek federal, state, private foundation, and grant funds to improve the safety and connectivity of bicyclists and pedestrians;
- (2) Conduct educational, safety and encouragement programs in support of active transportation;
- (3) Coordinate active transportation efforts to support other transportation-related activities including, but not exclusive to: Athens Transit, Oconee Rivers Greenway Commission, and Rails to Trails, Safe Routes to School; and
- (4) Recommend to the Mayor and Commission financial and/or other incentives to preserve, enhance, or further the purposes of the AiMC.

ARTICLE TWO: Membership and Terms

2.1 There shall be an Athens in Motion Commission which shall consist of nine (9) members appointed for five (5) year terms of office.

2.1.1 The Unified Government shall make an initial call for nominees for seven (7) positions on the AiMC. The Mayor and Commission will interview applicants and appoint these seven (7) members. Whenever a vacancy exists thereafter, applications for replacements will be solicited, and appointments made, by the Mayor and Commission as occurs with other Boards, Authorities, and Commissions ("BACs") to which the Mayor and Commission appoints members.

2.1.2 One (1) additional member shall be appointed initially by the President of the University of Georgia. Whenever a vacancy exists thereafter, the President of the University of Georgia shall appoint a replacement.

2.1.3 One (1) additional member shall be an active member of the Oconee Rivers Greenway Commission and be appointed by a majority vote of the Oconee Rivers Greenway Commission. Whenever a vacancy exists thereafter, the Oconee Rivers Greenway Commission shall select a replacement, whose name will be forwarded to the Mayor and Commission for acceptance or

rejection. If the nominee is rejected, the Oconee Rivers Greenway Commission shall nominate a different replacement until a candidate is approved by the Mayor and Commission.

2.1.4 Terms. The term of office of the appointed members of the AiMC shall be five (5) years or until their successors are appointed. *Terms expire on July 31 of the applicable year.* No one may serve on the AiMC more than two (2) full consecutive terms. In order to achieve staggered terms, initial appointments shall be: three members for three years, three members for four years, and three members for five years. Initial appointments to the staggered terms will be determined by a lottery.

2.2 A simple majority of the AiMC shall constitute a quorum at any regular or special meeting of the AiMC, and no proxy vote shall be allowed. Voting members that must be absent for three (3) or more consecutive regular meetings should apply in advance to the chair for a leave of absence. Members on a leave of absence will not be counted as voting members.

2.3 Special meetings of the AiMC may be called by the chair at any time, with three days' notice, to conduct urgent business and may also be called at the written request of any two voting members of the AiMC. All such special meetings shall be announced in the official legal organ of Athens-Clarke County.

2.4 Any AiMC member may be removed, at any regular meeting, upon the recommendation of the chair, by a majority vote of the voting members, and with consent in writing of the appointing authority. Any AiMC member may also be removed for cause by the Mayor and Commission after a public hearing. All AiMC members are responsible for attending and participating in regular AiMC meetings to accomplish the work of the AiMC. Therefore, after three (3) consecutive, or five (5) of seven (7) consecutive absences by a Commission member without prior notification of the chair, the chair may recommend removal of that member to the voting members.

2.5 The AiMC shall meet a minimum of six (6) times per year, and no less frequently than once every two-month period. A scheduled time and place shall be designated by the Chair for regular meetings of the AiMC. All members shall be notified at least five (5) days in advance of any change in the time or location of these regular meetings. All meetings will be conducted in accordance with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.

ARTICLE THREE: Officers

3.1 The officers of the AiMC shall be: chair, vice chair, and secretary.

3.2 All officers shall be elected by a majority of the voting members at the annual meeting of the AiMC. Officers shall hold office for two (2) years following their election, or until such time as their successors are chosen. The AiMC, by a majority of the voting members may elect officers to fill vacancies that occur between annual meetings.

3.3 The chair shall be the chief administrative officer of the AiMC.

3.3.1 He/she shall be responsible for general supervision of the policies and activities of the AiMC.

3.3.2 He/she shall preside over AiMC meetings and shall serve as principal communications liaison between the AiMC, the governing authority of the Unified Government, and the leadership of the University of Georgia.

3.3.3 The chair shall conduct all meetings in accordance with Roberts Rules of Order, Tenth Edition, as revised. He/she shall have the authority to determine the need to call for a roll call vote when a voice vote is inconclusive.

3.4 The vice-chair shall perform such duties as are generally performed by vice-chair, and in the event of vacancy of the chair, or at his/her request, or at the direction of the AiMC, shall have the authority and perform the duties of the chair.

3.5 The secretary shall keep the minutes of the AiMC and have charge of the minute records. He/she shall be responsible for all correspondence of the AiMC, authenticating any documents or records of the AiMC, and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as may be delegated by the chair or the AiMC. The secretary shall cause copies of all minutes, records, and correspondence to be deposited with the Clerk of Commission.

3.6 Assistants to the vice-chair and secretary may be appointed by, and shall have such duties as may be delegated by the chair or the AiMC.

ARTICLE FOUR: Annual Meeting and Reporting Procedures

4.1 An annual meeting of the AiMC shall be held each year and at a place to be determined by the chair and members of the AiMC.

4.2 Notice in writing of the annual meeting shall be sent to each member of the AiMC at least five (5) days prior to the date of the meeting and shall be published in the official legal organ of Athens-Clarke County at least three (3) days prior to the date of the meeting time.

4.3 An annual report of the AiMC's activities for the year shall be presented to the AiMC by the chair at the annual meeting, and shall be submitted in writing to each authority responsible for Commission appointments upon approval in text by a majority of the voting members.

4.4 A quorum at the annual meeting shall be defined in the same manner as at regular meetings as specified in section 2.2.

ARTICLE FIVE: Amendments

5.1 These by-laws may be amended, altered, or repealed by at least a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the voting members by written ballot or at any regular meeting, with previous notice of such changes, or at any special meeting, provided notice is given of the proposed changes in the notice of such special meeting. Any such amendment, alteration, or repeal shall be approved by the Mayor and Commission prior to its effect.